THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM OCONEE COUNTY
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
Ellis B. Drew, Master in Equity

RECEIVED
AUG 30 2017
SC Court of Appeals

Case No. 2014-CP-37-00143
Appellate Case No.: 2015-001860

Polly Thompson, Respondent,
v.
Cathy Swicegood, Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

..... J. Falkner Wilkes, 12893
114 Whitsett Street
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 282-1292

John G. Reckenbeil
Post Office Box 1633
Spartanburg, SC 29304
(864) 582-5472

Counsel for Appellant

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM OCONEE COUNTY
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
Ellis B. Drew, Master in Equity

Case No. 2014-CP-37-00143
Appellate Case No.: 2015-001860

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the court err in refusing to consider the issue of marriage and stay the action pending a resolution of the marriage issue?
2. Did the court err in the exclusion of evidence proving Appellant's direct and indirect contributions to jointly owned real property?
3. Did the court err in the determination of the Appellant's contribution in jointly owned real property?
4. Did the court apply the appropriate analysis in its determination of the parties' interests in the real property at issue?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an action for partition of jointly owned real property initiated by the Respondent. Appellant counterclaimed and alleged that the circuit court lacked jurisdiction and that the court should consider the parties' relationship and same sex marriage.

A trial was held before the Honorable Ellis B. Drew, Master in Equity on March 16, 2015 and May 21, 2015. An Order of Partition was entered on June 26, 2015. A timely motion for reconsideration was filed by the Appellant which was denied by order entered August 3, 2015. A timely notice of appeal was filed by the Appellant.

The Respondent was represented below by Margaret Chamberlain of Greenville. The Appellant was represented below by John Reckenbeil and J. Falkner Wilkes joins representation of the Appellant on appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

At the beginning of the trial the Respondent moved to exclude any evidence as to the parties' marriage. 219. The Respondent also moved to exclude any evidence as to a claim based on "sweat equity" by the Appellant in any real property other than the two subject of the partition action. 219. Respondent claimed that the indirect "sweat equity" in other property was not properly before the court as it was not raised in the Appellant's Answer and Counterclaim. 219.

Also at the beginning of the trial the Appellant argued a motion to stay the proceedings based on the existence of on-going litigation between the parties arising out of the family court on the issue of marriage, and the potential for exclusive jurisdiction of the family court over the subject real property as part of the parties' marital estate. 221. The court denied the motion stating that it expressed no opinion on whether there was a marriage and, that even if there was, it was still a partition action with two people that jointly owned property. 221. The Respondent renewed the motion at the end of the Plaintiff's case. 287. The court granted the Respondent's motion to exclude indirect contributions including the "sweat equity" in the relationship including other real property that the Appellant claimed was rolled over into the real property subject of this action. 227; 288-289.

The parties agreed as to the basic values of the properties. 228. The

Respondent testified that she added the Appellant's name to the title of both properties so that if anything happened to the Respondent the Appellant would have a place to live. 252. She also testified that she put the Appellant's name on the property because their relationship was deteriorating and that she thought it would help their relationship. 253. She specifically testified that putting the Appellant's name on the titles protected the Appellant in the event of her [the Respondent] death. 253. The properties were titled as joint tenancy with the right of survivorship. 262. Respondent testified thought that despite this she did not intend to convey fifty percent interest to the Appellant or that the Appellant receive fifty percent interest in the event that they "separated". 253.

The Respondent also put the Appellant on a checking account that she had since sometime in the 1990's. 254. Respondent referred to the account in her testimony as "joint checking account". 255, l. 22-25. The Respondent admitted that the Appellant contributed \$22,000.00 to the Lake Hartwell property. 258. At one point the Respondent's counsel sent a letter to the Appellant's counsel telling her she could live in the lake house. 267. Part of the acquisition of the property at issue involved the Appellant's execution of a quitclaim deed to the Respondent on other property in Greenville county for one dollar, love and affection. 269.

Appellant's counsel proffered that witness Stephanie Camputaro could have

testified to other properties and the relationship of the parties (evidence that had been excluded under the pre-trial ruling). 189. The court allowed testimony that Camputaro was witness to many conversations about their properties, their life as a whole and what they both achieved together. “Like any other married couple they both contributed different things.” 189, l. 20-23. The parties both contributed to the life and properties that they had. 190. That they kept upgrading the equity and properties. 190. Camputaro witnessed the Appellant doing the majority of the work in refurbishing the Hilton Head property. 192; 228. Camputaro equated the parties’ relationship financially to a marriage. 198. (The court repeatedly stated that it would not consider evidence of marriage or relationship.)

Appellant’s counsel proffered that the Appellant could testify to contributions excluded by the court that she claimed should have been considered in determining her interest in the prosperities. 300. The court responded that those would be the subject of another case or another court. 300. Appellant testified that she spent a lot of time and effort working on the property which they intended for their retirement. 301. Appellant testified that she was unable to take on other jobs while renovating their properties. 302. The parties continually worked on flipping properties to upgrade to more desirable property for their retirement. 302. The decision to purchase the Hilton Head property was a joint decision. 303. All of the

prior properties rolled forward to help enable the purchase the Hilton Head property. 204. The Appellant testified to the extensive work she performed in renovating property. 206; 229-247. Appellant also testified that she paid \$1,300.00 out of pocket for plumbing and electrical work. Appellant prepared a “standard invoice” to list the work and value she put into the Hilton Head property. 215; 229. Appellant testified to two values constituting some of her direct contributions to the properties, \$13,000 and \$17,490.83. 216.

Appellant testified that each party’s will left everything to the other party. 219. Appellant testified that she drew the plans for the Lake Hartwell home and was there during every single day of construction. 215. Respondent’s involvement in the construction process was minimal. 220. Appellant testified to the work she performed on the lake house. 225; 250. Appellant’s contribution of \$20,000 in the lake house was on top of the \$22,000 contributions from roll over of appreciation from the prior properties. 220. Appellant said she gave the Respondent the monies left over from the previous properties (two lots and a log cabin) and the \$22,000. 220-221. Appellant testified that she was responsible for a total direct contribution of \$42,000 that was put into the lake house. 223. A summary showing the contribution was proffered as Def. Ex. 8. 323. On cross-examination the \$22,000 was referred to as the “down payment” and the only other contribution was

Appellant's "work and effort going into it as payment." 227.

At the end of the hearing the Respondent's counsel requested partition by allotment of sole title based on the contributions of the parties. 240. Appellant sought 50% interest by sale and right of first refusal. 240-241. The court then gave the parties 20 days to come up with offers to purchase the interest of the other party for the court to consider. 242. The parties agreed on the value of the properties. 243-244. The court discusses getting the bid before considering an order requiring the sale of the property. 244. The hearing was concluded to reconvene at a later date.

When the court reconvened the trial judge asked the parties to each state for the record their offer to buy out the other's interest in the properties. 351. The Appellant offered to purchase the Lake Harwell property for \$175,000. 353. The Respondent offered \$275,100 on the Hilton Head property and \$188,407 on the Lake Hartwell property. The court found that the Respondent's offer the highest for each of the two properties. 353. The court accepted the offers of the Respondent and divided the net equity in each based on what the court found were the parties' respective direct contributions of cash, excluding roll over appreciation or other indirect contributions that the Appellant had sought to introduce and have considered. 353-359. Although the court mentioned the

Appellant's "sweat equity" it awarded all of the remaining equity in both houses to the Respondent. 359-360. The court denied Respondent damages for ouster. 360. The court awarded the Respondent \$5,000 in attorney fees and costs. 360-361; 372. As part of its reasoning the court stated that the marital claim "makes no difference to me." 363, l. 21-364, l. 9.

Appellant filed a Rule 59 motion raising the following issues: 1) The court's failure to consider the issue of marriage; 2) The court's failure to consider [allow] evidence that would be proper under an equity analysis; 3) That the decision should be vacated and the matter transferred to the family court for equitable division as marital property. 132.

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO CONSIDER THE ISSUE OF MARRIAGE AND STAY THE ACTION PENDING A RESOLUTION OF THE MARRIAGE ISSUE.

Standard of Review

A partition action is an action in equity. In an appeal from an equitable action, this court has jurisdiction to find facts in accordance with its own view of the preponderance of the evidence. Doe v. Clark, 318 S.C. 274, 276, 457 S.E.2d 336, 337 (1995); Laughon v. O'Braitis, 360 S.C. 520, 602 S.E.2d 108 (S.C. App., 2004).

The question of subject matter jurisdiction is a question of law for the court. Capital City Ins. Co. v. BP Staff, Inc., 382 S.C. 92, 99, 674 S.E.2d 524, 528 (Ct. App. 2009). This Court is free to decide questions of law with no deference to the trial court. Hammer v. Hammer, 399 S.C. 100, 730 S.E.2d 874 (S.C. App., 2012).

Discussion of the Issue

The court's refusal to consider the issue of marriage and stay the trial of the case was error. The parties in this case have pending litigation as to the existence of a marriage in Appellate Case No.: 2014-001109. In the event that the parties are ultimately determined to be married, the circuit court's order will lack subject matter jurisdiction and become void *ab initio*. See DeWitt v. S.C. Dept. of

Highways & Public Transp., 274 S.C. 184, 262 S.E.2d 28 (1980) (all proceedings of a court lacking subject matter jurisdiction are a nullity, and its judgment has no effect). The court therefore erred in staying the trial in this case pending a final determination of the parties' marital status.

Lack of subject matter jurisdiction may not be waived, even by consent of the parties. Anderson v. Anderson, 299 S.C. 110, 382 S.E.2d 897 (1989). Subject matter jurisdiction can be raised at any time. [S]ubject matter jurisdiction may not be waived and the issue may be raised at any stage of the proceeding. Eaddy v. Eaddy, 324 S.E.2d 70, 283 S.C. 582 (S.C., 1984). "[I]ssues relating to subject matter jurisdiction may be raised at any time ... and should be taken notice of by this court on our own motion." Bunkum v. Manor Properties, 321 S.C. 95, 99-100, 467 S.E.2d 758, 761 (Ct.App.1996). Brown v. Greenwood School Dist. 50 Bd., 344 S.C. 522, 544 S.E.2d 642 (S.C. App., 2001).

In the event that the parties are determined to be married pursuant to the common law, then only the family court can determine their respective interests in the real property at issue which, having been acquired during the marriage, would presumptively constitute marital property. See S. C. Code Section 20-3-630 as to marital property and S.C. Code Section 63-3-530 which provides: (A) The family court has exclusive jurisdiction: . . . (2) to hear and determine actions for divorce a

vinculo matrimonii, separate support and maintenance, legal separation, and in other marital litigation between the parties, and *for settlement of all legal and equitable rights of the parties in the actions in and to the real and personal property of the marriage and attorney's fees*, if requested by either party in the pleadings; *emphasis added*. See Hammer v. Hammer, 399 S.C. 100, 730 S.E.2d 874 (S.C. App., 2012). In the event that the separate litigation resolves the marital question in the Appellant's favor, then the circuit court is without subject matter jurisdiction and the order of partition becomes void. As the final ruling on the marital status of the parties could render the decision of the circuit court void, the circuit court erred in failing to stay the proceedings.

In the event that the marriage of the parties is affirmed by the separate appeal, then the Appellant would be prejudiced as the circuit court's analysis and determination of the parties' interests in the real property at issue differs substantially from the analysis applicable in the family's determinations relevant to the equitable division of marital property. See SC Code 20-3-630. The court's exclusion of evidence and refusal of considerations relevant in marital litigation, resulted in the exclusion of substantial value in the Appellant's interest in the properties that otherwise would have been considered by the family court:

In making an equitable distribution of marital property, the court must (1) identify the marital property, both real and personal, to be divided between the parties; (2) determine the fair market value of the property so identified; (3) *apportion the marital estate according to the contributions, both direct and indirect, of each party to the acquisition of the property during the marriage, their respective assets and incomes, and any special equities they may have in marital assets*; and (4) provide for an equitable division of the marital estate, including the manner in which distribution is to take place. Toler v. Toler, 292 S.C. 374, 356 S.E.2d[296 S.C. 294] 429 (Ct.App.1987); Gibson v. Gibson, 283 S.C. 318, 322 S.E.2d 680 (Ct.App.1984).

Johnson v. Johnson, 296 S.C. 289, 372 S.E.2d 107 (S.C. App., 1988), *emphasis added*.

Thus the Appellant was prejudiced by the circuit court proceeding prior to the conclusion of the litigation to settle the issue of marriage.

II. THE COURT ERRED IN ITS DETERMINATION OF THE VALUE OF EACH PARTIES' CONTRIBUTION TO THE PROPERTIES.

The issue of each party's interest in the subject property is a factual determination. Assuming *arguendo* that the partition action is appropriate, the court still erred in excluding relevant evidence of value contributed by the Appellant to each property. In this case the court ruled that it would not consider evidence relating to any properties other than the two directly subject to the partition action. This was error.

The record shows that the parties purchased and sold (flipped) multiple

pieces of real property culminating in the purchase of the Hilton Head property. What little testimony of the Appellant was allowed, shows that appreciation realized from the sequential property sales was attributable directly the efforts of the Appellant in renovating and refurbishing each property. The net gain from that appreciation was then funneled into the purchase money used by the Respondent to purchase each of the subject properties. Appellant sought to offer evidence to as to the chain of sales and resulting build up of equity to show the full extent of value she contributed to the ultimate purchase of the two properties. This evidence was necessary for a proper determination of the Appellant's interest in the subject properties.

The court excluded evidence relevant and necessary to a proper determination of the Appellant's interest in the subject property. Evidence is relevant if it tends to establish or make more or less probable some matter in issue upon which it directly or indirectly bears. State v. Alexander, 303 S.C. at 380, 401 S.E.2d at 148; State v. Schmidt, 288 S.C. 301, 342 S.E.2d 401 (1986)." 'All that is required is that the fact shown legally tends to establish, or to make more or less probable, some matter in issue and to bear directly or indirectly thereon.' It is not required that the inference sought should 'necessarily follow' from the fact proved. Evidence is relevant if it makes the desired inference more probable than it would