**The State of South Carolina
In The Court of Appeals**

ON APPEAL FROM THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

**Ellis B. Drew, Master in Equity
Trial Case No.: 2014-CP-37-00143**

APPELLATE CASE NO.: 2015-001860

Polly A. Thompson,

Respondent,

v.

Cathy J. Swicegood,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT POLLY A. THOMPSON

Margaret A. Chamberlain (SC Bar No. 015226)
CHAMBERLAIN LAW FIRM, LLC
600 Pettigru Street
Greenville, South Carolina 29601
(864) 250-0505 (Telephone)
(864) 271-8097 (Facsimile)
Counsel for Respondent Polly A. Thompson

Melissa H. Moore (SC Bar No. 101315) .
LAW OFFICE OF MELISSA H. MOORE
Post Office Box 524
Fountain Inn, South Carolina 29644
(864) 300-4828 (Telephone)

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

ARGUMENTS

I. THIS COURT SHOULD AFFIRM THE MASTER’S RULING BECAUSE EVEN IF APPELLANT AND RESPONDENT WERE MARRIED IT WOULD NOT DIVEST THE CIRCUIT COURT OF JURISDICTION

Appellant’s argument that the circuit court’s jurisdiction hinges upon the parties’ marital status is devoid of merit. The marital status of these parties is irrelevant to the issue of jurisdiction to hear partition actions. The circuit court has jurisdiction to hear partition actions between married couples just as it does for non-married individuals. South Carolina law on this issue is clear. “The court of common pleas has jurisdiction in **all** cases of real and personal estates held in joint tenancy or in common to make partition in kind or by

allotment” S.C. Code Ann. § 15-61-50 (2014) (emphasis added). Additionally, “**All** joint tenants and tenants in common who hold, jointly or in common, . . . shall be compellable to make severance and partition of all such lands, tenements and hereditaments.” S.C. Code Ann. §15-61-10 (2014) (emphasis added); *See also Smith v. Rucker*, 357 S.C. 532, 537, 593 S.E.2d 497 (S.C. App., 2004) (holding that husband and wife’s deed created a joint tenancy with rights of survivorship, thus the property was subject to partition under § 15-61-10).

A partition action “is not marital litigation, and thus is not within the jurisdiction of the family court.” *Gilley v. Gilley*, 327 S.C. 8, 1, 488 S.E.2d 310,311 (S.C. 1996) (*quoting Eichor v. Eichor*, 290 S.C. 484, 351 S.E.2d 353 (S.C. App., 1986)). “The general rule is that jurisdiction of a court depends upon the state of affairs existing at the time it is invoked.” *Gilley v. Gilley*, 327 S.C. at 1, 488 S.E.2d at 311 (*quoting Gardner v. Gardner*, 253 S.C. 296, 170 S.E.2d 372 (1969)). Thus, jurisdiction of the court is “based on the status of the case **at the time of filing.**” *Gilley*, 327 S.C. at 11, 488 S.E.2d at 311 (emphasis added). “If jurisdiction once attaches to the person and subject matter of the litigation the subsequent happening of events will not ordinarily operate to oust the jurisdiction already attached.” *Id.* (holding husband’s subsequent filing of a family court action did not divest the circuit court of its jurisdiction over wife’s partition action). Just as in the *Gilley* case, the partition action in this case was filed **before** the family court action. Appellant’s subsequent filing in family court did not strip the circuit court of subject matter jurisdiction.

Appellant’s contention that the circuit court would lack subject matter jurisdiction if the parties are determined to be married is contrary to the South Carolina partition statutes. Like the husband and wife in *Smith*, the parties in this case hold their properties as joint

tenants with rights of survivorship which makes the parties and their properties subject to partition and the jurisdiction of the circuit court under § 15-61-10 and § 15-61-50.

Furthermore, even if Respondent and Appellant were determined to be married (as were the parties in *Smith*) their marital status alone would not create an exception to the Circuit Court's jurisdiction over the parties and their properties.

Appellant further argues that only family court can determine the parties' interest in the properties because if the parties are found to be married, the properties would "presumptively" be marital property. This argument is also incorrect. Under the Equitable Apportionment Act, "marital property as such does not exist until the date when marital litigation is filed or commenced." *Prosser v. Pee Dee State Bank*, 295 S.C. 212, 214, 367 S.E.2d 698, 700 (1988) (interpreting S.C. Code § 20-3-630(A)(2014)(formerly § 20-7-473)).

Appellant had not commenced family-court litigation at the time Respondent filed her partition action on March 11, 2014. Therefore, at the time the circuit court's jurisdiction attached, family court did not, and could not, have jurisdiction over the properties. Thus, at the time the partition was filed the properties were not and could not have been deemed "marital property" under the law. Because the jurisdiction of a court attaches to the person and the subject matter of the litigation at the time of filing, Appellant's subsequent filing of her family court Complaint did not divest the circuit court of jurisdiction over the properties. Thus, the circuit court properly asserted jurisdiction based on the status of the case and the properties at the time of filing regardless of whether or not the parties are married or not.

II. THE MASTER PROPERLY EXCLUDED EVIDENCE OF ANY CONTRIBUTIONS AND IMPROVEMENTS TO PROPERTIES OTHER THAN THE COMMON PROPERTIES

“The admission of evidence is a matter addressed to the sound discretion of the trial judge and his ruling will not be disturbed absent a clear abuse of discretion amounting to error of law.” *Anchor Point, Inc. v. Shoals of Anderson, Inc.*, 309 S.C. 486, 491, 424 S.E.2d 521, 524 (1992). To be subject to a partition action, real property must be held in joint tenancy or in common. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-61-50 (2014). The law is unambiguous, to be entitled to contribution from a cotenant or to be entitled to compensation for improvements, those contributions or improvements must be made to the common property, not properties that have long been sold. *See Shumaker v. Shumaker*, 234 S.C. 421, 426, 108 S.E.2d 682,685 (1959). (holding that “a joint tenant who, at his own expense, places permanent improvements upon the **common property**, is entitled in a partition suit to compensation for the improvements.”); *Ackerman v. Ackerman*, 287 S.C. 626, 629, 340 S.E.2d 560, 562 (1986) (holding the amount of compensation to be awarded in a partition and accounting action for improvements is “estimated by and limited to the amount by which the value of the **common property** has been enhanced.”) 6 S.C. Jurisprudence Cotenancies § 29 (1991) (“a cotenant who has made essential repairs for the maintenance or preservation of the **common property** is entitled to contribution”); *Id.* at § 27 (A cotenant who pays more than their share of a common debt or obligation or who pays repair or maintenance costs for the benefit of the **common property** is entitled to contribution from cotenants for their proportionate shares of the amount paid”) (emphasis added).

Respondent contends that any evidence of Appellant’s contributions or improvements to any properties other than those subject to this partition action is irrelevant. The Master

properly excluded such evidence because the other properties are not subject to this partition action and had either been sold prior to litigation or are owned solely by Respondent. (R. p. 223, lines 18-25). Any improvements made to properties not subject to this litigation cannot be assessed against the Hilton Head or Hartwell properties because these alleged improvements were not made to the common properties and did not enhance the value of the common properties.

III. THE MASTER ERRED IN ALLOWING SUMMARIES OF APPELLANT'S ALLEGED IMPROVEMENTS TO THE PROPERTIES INTO EVIDENCE UNDER S.C. RULES OF EVIDENCE 1006 AND 803

The Master erred in allowing Appellant's invoice for work allegedly performed to the Hilton Head property into evidence under Rule 1006 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence. Rule 1006 states,

The contents of voluminous writings, recordings, or photographs which cannot conveniently be examined in court may be presented in the form of a chart, summary, or calculation, provided the underlying data are admissible into evidence. **The originals, or duplicates, shall be made available for examination or copying, or both, by other parties at reasonable time and place.** The court may order that they be produced in court.

SCRE 1006 (emphasis added).

When asked on direct examination to identify the invoice for the Hilton Head property, Appellant testified that the invoice was one she prepared to "summarize" basically everything she had done to the Hilton Head property. (R. p. 314, lines 17-20). Respondent's counsel objected to the use of the summary because Appellant had not complied with the requirements for a summary under Rule 1006 (R. p. 315, lines 3-11).

Following Respondent's objection under Rule 1006, Appellant's counsel informed the court that Appellant had "reconstructed" the invoice from her recollection and memory.

(R. p. 315, lines 20-23). Respondent's counsel then objected to the admission of the invoice because it was created in preparation for trial and did not fall within the exception to Rule 803 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence. (R. p. 316, lines 1-7).

Rule 803(5) states the following as an exception to the hearsay rule,

A memorandum or record concerning a matter about which a witness once had knowledge but now has insufficient recollection to enable the witness to testify fully and accurately, **shown to have been made or adopted by the witness when the matter was fresh in the witness' memory** and to reflect that knowledge correctly. If admitted, the memorandum or record may be read into evidence but may not itself be received as an exhibit unless offered by an adverse party.

SCRE 803(5) (emphasis added).

The Master overruled both objections and allowed Appellant's invoice of the Hilton Head property into evidence as Defendant's Exhibit 7. (R. p. 316, lines 13-14).

Respondent contends that the invoice does not meet the requirements of Rule 1006 in that the underlying documents of the summary were not provided to or made available to Respondent for examination. (R. p. 315, lines 3-11). On cross-examination, Appellant testified that she had not provided any documentation by way of canceled check, bills or receipts for any materials for any property, but had only provided counsel with the invoices. (R. p. 329, lines 8-19). My her own admission, Appellant has not supplied Respondent with any underlying documents in support of the Hilton Head invoice.

Respondent further contends the Master erred in admitting the invoice into evidence under Rule 803. The invoice does not meet an exception to hearsay under Rule 803 and is not admissible because the invoice cannot be shown to "have been made or adopted by the witness when the matter was fresh in [her] memory" as required under the rule. On direct-examination, Appellant identified the invoice as one she prepared trying to recall what she had done to the property. (R. p. 314, lines 15-16). Appellant further testified on cross-

examination that neither the invoice proffered for the excluded properties nor the invoice for Hilton Head were originals, and neither were created at or near time the alleged work was performed. (R. p. 329, lines 3-7). In fact, Appellant testified she had “reconstructed” the invoices a mere three weeks prior to trial. (R. p. 329, lines 8-19). Trial in this case was held on March 15, 2015, and Appellant’s summary was for work allegedly performed on or around June of 2013. (R. p. 542). Appellant’s own testimony shows the invoice was “reconstructed” almost two years after the work was allegedly done, not when the matter was fresh in her memory.

For these reasons, Respondent contends the invoice for Hilton Head should have been excluded by the Master.

IV. THE MASTER PROPERLY CONSIDERED THE EVIDENCE IN DETERMINING THE VALUE OF EACH PARTIES’ CONTRIBUTIONS

When reviewing an appeal from an equitable action, the Court may find facts in accordance with its own view of the preponderance of the evidence. *Laughon v. O’Braitis*, 318 S.C. 520, 524-25, 602 S.E.2d 108, 110 (Ct. App. 2004). “However, this broad scope of review does not require the Court to disregard the findings at trial or ignore the fact that the trial judge was in a better position to assess the credibility of the witnesses.” *Id.*

In fashioning an award in a partition action, a court may consider the amount of any down payment and any mortgage payments, as well as the reasonable value of repairs and improvements made to the property. *See Shumaker v. Shumaker*, 234 S.C. 421,426, 108 S.E.2d 682,685 (1959) (holding that “a joint tenant who, at his own expense, places permanent improvements upon the common property, is entitled in a partition suit to compensation for the improvements.”); 6 S.C. Jurisprudence Cotenancies § 27 (1991) (A cotenant who pays more than their share of a common debt or obligation or who pays repair

or maintenance costs for the benefit of the common property is entitled to contribution from cotenants for their proportionate shares of the amount paid”).

The following facts regarding the Hilton Head property are undisputed and are firmly established by the record: its fair market value was \$389,700.00, the mortgage loan balance was \$269,100.57, and the estimated equity was \$120,599.43. (R. pp. 374-424).¹ Nor is it disputed that the mortgage note is solely in Respondent, Polly Thompson’s, name, and her contributions to the property totaled \$142,477.01 at the time of the hearing. (R. pp. 374-424) (R. pp. 228-239) (R. p. 326, lines 16-19).

Likewise, the following facts regarding the Lake Hartwell property are undisputed and are firmly established by the record: its fair market value was \$211,150.00, the mortgage loan balance was \$143,407.75, and the estimated equity was \$67,742.25. (R. pp. 425-475). Nor is it disputed that the mortgage note is solely in Respondent, Polly Thompson’s, name, and her contributions to the property totaled \$129,838.70 at the time of the hearing. (R. pp. 425-475) (R. pp. 239-254) (R. p. 327, lines 13-25) (R. p. 328, lines 1-3).

Despite stipulating to the property values and accounting contained in Plaintiff’s Exhibits 1 and 2, Appellant now claims some of Respondent’s contributions to the properties came from her. This assertion, however, is not supported by any evidence in the record. (R. pp. 215-348). The evidence shows that the overwhelming majority of the monies paid on the Hartwell property and all the money paid on the Hilton Head property came from Respondent, Polly Thompson. (R. pp. 230-231) (R. pp. 279-280). Respondent testified that the funds she used came either from inheritance from her parents or from her salary. *Id.* Respondent presented the Master with bank statements, checks and other documentation

¹ Plaintiff’s Exhibit 1 and 2 are notebooks containing a summary of the property values and contributions, as well as the underlying documents in support of the summary. The notebooks were admitted into evidence without objection from Appellant.

reflecting her contributions to the properties. (R. pp. 374-475). In contrast, Appellant did not present the Master with any cancelled checks, bank statements, deposit slips or any evidence whatsoever of any funds she allegedly gave Respondent or contributed to the properties. (R. p. 329, lines 8-19).

Appellant also claims that the Master's calculation fails to consider her alleged "sweat equity" contributions to the properties. Respondent asserts the Master properly considered Appellant's alleged "sweat equity" under South Carolina partition law. "A joint tenant who, **at his own expense**, places permanent improvements upon the common property, is entitled in a partition suit to compensation for the improvements." *Shumaker*, 234 S.C. at 425, 108 S.E.2d at 682. (emphasis added).

Appellant testified that she worked on both properties and would sometimes use her own money to purchase materials and other items. (R. p. 328, lines 4-8) (R. p. 330, lines 10-11). She admitted, however, Respondent paid her for material and labor. *Id.* Appellant did not provide the Master with any cancelled checks, bills or receipts for any of her alleged expenditures. (R. p. 329, lines 3-11). While Respondent did not deny Appellant did work to the properties, Respondent testified she paid Appellant for both her labor and materials. (R. p. 235, lines 12-19). Respondent supported this assertion by producing cancelled checks paid to and cashed by Appellant for labor and materials, which reflect payment of over \$13,000.00 to Appellant for materials and labor. (R. pp. 374-475) (R. pp. 509-514) (R. pp. 330-334). Appellant presented no evidence that her improvements and materials were paid at her own expense as required under *Shumaker*. They were clearly paid at the expense of Respondent. Appellant cannot expect to be compensated for her alleged "sweat equity" by

way of partition when she was compensated for her labor by Respondent at the time the work was performed.

Respondent contends that the Master did consider Appellant's alleged "sweat equity." The Appellant failed to produce any credible evidence, documentary or otherwise, as to the value of her alleged "sweat equity" or the value by which the properties were enhanced by her efforts. The Master obviously found that it was Respondent's money alone that was used to pay the debts, improvements, maintenance and repairs for both properties. (R. pp. 358-359). Therefore, Respondent contends deference should be given to the Master's credibility assessments, as well as his finding that Respondent's money funded the properties (including paying for Appellant's labor), and his decision should be upheld.

V. THIS COURT SHOULD AFFIRM THE MASTER'S RULING BECAUSE APPELLANT'S OUSTER OF RESPONDENT FROM THE LAKE HARTWELL PROPERTY IS A PROPER CONSIDERATION IN DETERMINING THE DIVISION OF THE PROPERTIES

The South Carolina Rules of Appellate Procedure provide that "respondent's brief may also contain argument asking the court to affirm for any ground appearing on the record on appeal as provided by Rule 220(c), SCACR." Rule 208(b)(2), SCACR. Rule 220(c), SCACR, further provides that "the appellate court may affirm any ruling, order, or judgment upon any ground(s) appearing in the record on appeal." Moreover, a respondent may raise any additional basis on which the appellate court should affirm the trial court's ruling, regardless of whether it was presented to or ruled upon by the trial court. *I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mount Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 419, 526 S.E.2d 716, 723 (2000).

Although the Master did not award Respondent damages in her action for ouster against Appellant, Respondent contends Appellant's ouster of Respondent is a proper equitable consideration in deciding to affirm the Master's distribution of the properties to the

parties. A partition action is an equitable action. *Anderson v. Anderson*, 299 S.C. 110, 382 S.E.2d 897 (1989). As such the maxim – “He who seeks equity should do equity” must apply. *Anderson v. Purvis*, 211 S.C. 255, 44 S.E.2d 611, 613 (1947). “Ouster is the actual turning out or keeping excluded a party entitled to possession of any real property.” *Freeman v. Freeman*, 323 S.C. 95, 99, 473 S.E.2d 467, 470 (Ct. App. 1996). “The acts relied upon to establish an ouster must be of an unequivocal nature, and so distinctly hostile to the rights of the other cotenants that the intention to disseize is clear and unmistakable.” *Id.*

In December 2013, Appellant and Respondent ended their relationship. At that time, the parties agreed Appellant could stay at the Lake Hartwell home. (R. p. 247, lines 7-11). Prior to Appellant moving in, Respondent had unfettered access to the property. Respondent testified that in January 2014, she went to check on the property and discovered Appellant had changed the locks on the home. (R. p. 247, lines 17-20) (R. p. 480). After Respondent discovered she could not access her home, Respondent’s counsel sent a letter to Appellant’s counsel on January 28, 2014, asking for keys to the property. (R. p. 476). Appellant’s counsel in turn refused to give Respondent keys to the property. (R. p. 477). Respondent requested keys and access to the property on two other occasions. (R. pp. 478-479). Appellant, however, continued to deny Respondent keys or access to the property. (R. p. 250, lines 14-17). Appellant not only denied Respondent access to the property, she also removed Respondent’s personal items and furniture from inside the home without Respondent’s knowledge. (R. pp. 250-251). Respondent went to check on the Hartwell property in November 2014, and while walking around the perimeter of the home she discovered her items were dumped onto the porch on the back of the home. *Id.* By the time Respondent discovered the items they were covered with mold and mildew. (R. p. 482-486).